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)
AWCB Decision No. 99-0093








)





Employer,


)
FILED IN ANCHORAGE, AK




  Defendant.


)
ON APRIL 23, 1999

   ________________________________________)


We heard Employee's claim for additional compensation at Anchorage Alaska, on February 10, 1999.  Attorney Shelby L. Nuenke Davison represented Employer.  Employee represented herself. We closed the record at the hearing's conclusion.  

ISSUES

1.
Is Employee is entitled to additional medical benefits, under AS 23.30.095?

2.
Is Employee entitled to temporary total disability (TTD) compensation from December 23, 1997 through January 17, 1998, under AS 23.30.185?

3.
Is Employee entitled to temporary partial disability (TPD) compensation from January 18, 1998 through August 29, 1998, under AS 23.30.200?

4.
Is Employee entitled to permanent partial impairment (PPI) compensation under AS 23.30.190?

5.
Is Employee entitled to a penalty on benefits due and not timely paid, under AS 23.30.155(e)?

6.
Is Employee entitled to interest on benefits due and not timely paid, under 8 AAC 45.142?

7.
Whether Employer frivolously or unfairly controverted compensation due to Employee, under as 23.30.155(o)?


SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE


Employee, a thirty‑year‑old woman, filed notice of a back injury on September 25, 1997.  She alleged her back injury happened lifting a twenty‑pound box of cosmetics.  

Pre‑existing Injury and Treatments

It is undisputed Employee had a work‑related L4‑5 lumbar disc herniation in February 1992, while working for Wal‑Mart in Las Vegas, Nevada.  In October 1994, Reynold L. Rimoldi, M.D., an orthopedic surgeon, performed a L4‑L5 discectomy and bilateral laminectomy.   


In December 1994, physical therapist, Randy Allen, reported Employee complained of "constant low back ache with altered sensation below her right knee, intermittent shocking sensation into her buttocks, and positive difficulty with urination."  Dr. Rimoldi read a January 1995 follow‑up MRI as showing epidural scarring at the surgery site, mild to moderate L4-L5 stenosis, but no recurrent disc herniation.  Dr. Rimoldi released her to light duty work with a permanent twenty pound lifting restriction.  


After a March 22, 1995 examination, David G. Toeller, D.O, declined to give Employee an impairment rating because significant symptom magnification and "submaximal" effort produced  inconsistent and, therefore, invalid range of motion studies.  On June 13, 1995, Richard Cestkowski, D.O., rated Employee's back with eleven percent whole person impairment rating, according to the American Medical Association, Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, (3rd ed. 1988).


Employee testified that from January 1995 until January 1997 she managed her pain without medication or medical treatment.  She began to work for Employer in Anchorage, Alaska, on October 1996.  She testified her back pain began to increase in January 1997.


On January 29, 1997, Employee sought care from Dr. Davy, at First Care, for left rib pain, back pain, and a productive cough.  Employee reported significant pain for three days unrelated to trauma or an antecedent event.  Dr. Davy diagnosed chronic back pain and pneumonia.


On May 16, 1997, Leslie Bryant, M.D., a family practitioner, examined Employee.  Dr. Bryant noted she was having low back pain and numbness from right knee down.  On May 19, 1997, Dr. Bryant prescribed Anexsia, a narcotic pain reliever, and stated he would "further evaluate her pain symptomology and devise a more complete chronic pain management program without the use of narcotics over the next few visits."  On June 23, 1997, Dr. Bryant reported Employee wanted to have her 1995 MRI reviewed by a local back surgeon.  Dr. Bryant noted she was not having significant symptoms of nerve root impingement, other than pain.  He discouraged her from seeking surgery to address her chronic back pain and indicated she may benefit from counselling for depression and interpersonal difficulties.

 Employee's Work Injury

Employee testified that on September 25, 1997, she was consolidating freight onto a pallet with a co‑worker, Coleen Ferrel.  She stated the injury happened when she lifted a box of lotion weighing approximately twenty pounds.  She testified Ms. Ferrel observed the incident and she contemporaneously told Ms. Ferrel, "I think I injured my back, because I am having shooting pain down my leg."


Ms. Ferrel testified Employee complained that her back hurt on the morning of September 25, 1997, before the alleged lifting incident.  Ms. Ferrel testified she did not see the alleged lifting incident or hear Employee say she had injured her back.  Ms. Ferrel also testified that one or two weeks before September 25, 1997, Employee told her she had fallen down stairs at home and injured her back.  Ms. Ferrel stated Employee showed her a one and one‑half inch diameter bruise on her lower back and a scrape down her spine.


Employee testified she had slipped down four steps and home, about four weeks prior to September 25, 1997.  She stated she had landed on her elbow and "caught the back of her leg"  causing a bruise on her calf.  She denied falling on her back or having a bruise on her back.


On September 25, 1998, Employee sought treatment from First Care.  Susan Moeler, FNP, reported Employee complained of an increase in low back pain and a bilateral decrease in lower extremity sensation.  Ms. Moeler removed Employee from work, noted she was already on pain medication, and instructed her to follow‑up with Dr. Bryant.  


On September 26, 1997, Elizabeth Hill‑Bryant, RN, FNP‑C, a nurse practitioner in Dr. Bryant's office examined Employee and diagnosed a "low back strain and anxiety escalating symptoms." She prescribed rest and continuation of medications Zoloft, Prevacid, and Anexsia. Ms. Hill‑Bryant reported "she does leak urine when she coughs, which has been a problem during a recent episode of bronchitis for which she was treated last week."


On September 30, 1997, Ms. Hill‑Bryant reported Employee stated she had no radiation of her back pain and no numbness or tingling.  Dr. Bryant examined Employee on October 7, 1997.  Dr. Bryant reported she complained of chronic low back pain, with pain in her right arm and down her right leg, but Employee acknowledged having right leg pain since 1994.  Employee reported to Dr. Bryant that she leaked urine when she coughed or sneezed, which she denied having occurred before.  Dr. Bryant noted she had reported urine leaking a month earlier.  Dr. Bryant stated "there is an element of psychologic pain behavior too and anxiety disorder," and he emphasized his goal was to aid Employee in getting back in control of her disability, not to eradicate or cure her pain, "this is not possible."  Dr. Bryant excused her from work until October 31, 1997.


At Employee's request, Dr. Bryant ordered a MRI scan on October 17, 1997.  Dr. Bryant read the MRI as showing no evidence of new disc herniation and no change from the 1995 MRI.  Dr. Bryant agreed to give Employee a ten‑day "pain holiday" by increasing her narcotic dosage. On October 22, 1997, Employee complained to Dr. Bryant she was having trouble voiding.  Dr. Bryant provided instruction and supplies for self‑catheterization.


On October 28, 1997, Thomas Vasileff, M.D., an orthopedic surgeon, examined Employee on a referral from Dr. Bryant.
  On October 28, 1997, Employee reported to Dr. Bryant, that Dr. Vasileff told her she was not a surgical candidate and a cure of her pain was unavailable.  Employee reported to Dr. Bryant she had disposed of her previous hydrocodone prescription, but could not tolerate the pain.  He stated "she is able to void more easily since decreasing her narcotic intake."  Dr. Bryant diagnosed,


chronic pain syndrome due to old (previously operated) L4‑5 disc disease with superimposed sub acute flare up of pain, mostly myofascial (but includes nerve root irritation from myofascial inflammation and spasm) which is clearly related to reinjury of 9/25/97 when she was lifting and moving many small (20#) boxes at her current job here in Anchorage.  Urinary retention secondary to higher doses of narcotics, improved.


Dr. Bryant related Employee's pain complaints to her original injury, but stated "it is clear that her current disability is caused by a new injury incurred while lifting boxes on 9/25."  Dr. Bryant expressed discomfort with Employee's assertion that she had disposed of her previous narcotic prescription.  He stated "the risks of escalating narcotic use have been reiterated again today, including urinary retention which could damage her kidneys permanently, worsen depression, constipation, nausea, withdrawal rebound in pain if/when she runs our (or gets cut off for malfeasance)."  Dr. Bryant stated he concurred with Dr. Vasileff's opinion that it would be at least another month before Employee could return to work. 
 



Dr. Vasileff referred Employee to J. Michael James, M.D., a physiatrist, for electromyograph (EMG) tests to determine if there was a neurological basis for Employee's increased back pain, extremity numbness, and voiding difficulties.  On November 4, 1997, Dr. James reported Employee "related she was well until September 25, 1997, when she had an onset of back pain referred to both lower extremities.  . . .  There was preexisting paresthesia of the lower right extremity and some mild weakness of the right leg although nothing changed following the September 25, 1997 onset of back pain."  Employee stated she began to have difficulty initiating urination about three weeks earlier.


Dr. James reported her EMG test results were normal.  He diagnosed a lumbar strain without evidence of radiculopathy.  Dr. James stated "I believe the patient's difficulty with micturition represents pelvic floor spasm as a consequence of her pain and secondary obstructive uropathy (functional obstruction) . . . and [I] found no neurologic basis for her difficulty voiding."  In Dr. James' opinion, the "old right L5 radiculopathy by history, [was] unrelated to the present problem."  Dr. James prescribed Hytrin to relax her pelvic floor.


On November 10, 1997, Dr. James reported Employee's difficulty voiding was relieved by Hytrin, but it caused headaches.  He reduced the Hytrin dosage.  On November 17, 1997, he reported Employee discontinued Hytrin because of headaches, and she was having more discomfort and difficulty initiating urination.  He prescribed Valium to aid urination.


On November 26, 1997, received a lumbar epidural steroid injection by Harold F. Cable, M.D., a radiologist.  Dr. James' report of December 17, 1997 stated,


The patient was having relief of her urinary micturition dysfunction with the diazepam
 until November 27, 1997, when she underwent an epidural steroid injection.  This resulted in recurrent inability to void for five days.  . . . After that the inability to void abated and she was left with some hesitancy or difficulty voiding, but not the frank inability to void.

Dr. James diagnosed possible post injection inflammatory reaction, discogenic back pain, peroneal floor spasms to account for the patient's difficulty with micturition.  Dr. James refilled her hydrocodone prescription and removed her from work for the next month.


On December 22, 1997, Lee B. Silver, M.D., an orthopedic surgeon, reviewed Employee's medical records, took a medical history, and examined her on behalf of Employer.  Dr. Silver stated Employee's subjective complaints of increased leg pain, numbness and weakness were indicative of a disc herniation or neural impingement.  However, he testified there was no objective evidence of new disc herniation or nerve root impingement.  [Silver Depo. at 10.]  Dr. Silver noted Employee had a history of chronic back pain from her 1993 injury and had been treated for back pain with oral narcotic medications and a TENS unit in the months before the September 1997 work injury. [Silver Depo. at 15 and 17]


Dr. Silver diagnosed Employee's September 1997 work injury as a lumbosacral strain/sprain.  In Dr. Silver's opinion, Employee's work injury caused a temporary aggravation of her pre‑existing back condition that would be expected to and, he testified, had resolved by December 22, 1997.  [Silver Depo. at 8‑9.]  In Dr. Silver's opinion, Employee's need for ongoing medical treatment was related to her pre‑existing back condition, and not to the September 25, 1997 work injury.  [Silver Depo at 11 and 17.]  Dr. Silver opined that, as of December 22, 1997, Employee was medically stable from the September 25, 1997 injury, had not sustained additional permanent impairment, did not require further medical treatment, and could return to full time work within her preexisting twenty pound lifting restriction.  [Silver January 15, 1998 Report; Silver Depo at 10.]


Dr. Silver testified the negative October 1997 MRI scan suggested there was no objective basis for Employee's bladder problems. [Silver Depo. at 15]  And, back pain alone would not stop bladder function.  [Silver Depo. at 16.]  Dr. Silver testified there were no structural or neurological changes from the September 1997 injury to account for Employee's urinary problems.

 
On December 31, 1997, Dr. James reported improvement in Employee's voiding pattern with the use of Valium.  He stated she had about sixty percent of a normal range of motion and he expected her to return to part time, light duty work by the middle of January.  "The only limiting factor of this is the voiding issue."   On January 4, 1998 Dr. James reported patient's back pain has remained relatively static.


On January 13, 1998, Dr. James reported Employee was doing better, though she had persistent back pain complaints.  He noted the voiding problem had resolved since she has been using the low‑doze diazepam.  He released her to four hours of sedentary work per day.   Employee returned to work on January 18, 1998.


On January 15, 1998, Dr. Silver issued the report of his December 22, 1997 examination.  Based on Dr. Silver's report, Employer controverted all benefits, effective December 22, 1997.  Employer's controversion is dated January 22, 1998.

Employee's Motor Vehicle Accident

On January 23, 1998, Employee was involved in a motor vehicle accident.  Employee testified her car was struck in the left fender, but did not cause sufficient damage to reach her insurance deductible.  She testified she was not injured in the automobile accident, but the adjuster for the auto insurer told her to seek medical care. (Costa Depo. at 49.) 


On January 23, 1998, Employee was seen at the Sisters of Providence Emergency Room, an x-ray of her cervical spine was read as normal.  On January 26, 1998, Employee again presented at the emergency room. David Ingraham, M.D., reported she complained of "low back pain, with pain radiating down both legs to her knees, occasionally radiating below her knees, but she denied any current bowel or bladder dysfunction."  Dr. Ingraham diagnosed chronic low back pain with exacerbation secondary to recent motor vehicle accident. He prescribed Demerol and gave her a prescription for Percocet.   Employee testified she did not seek additional medical care for injury from the automobile accident, but she did tell Dr. James about it.  (Costa Depo. at 52.)


On January 29, 1998, Dr. James saw Employee for both work injury and the motor vehicle accident.  In his report to the motor vehicle insurer, Dr. James stated Employee reported,


she was well with regard to her present problem until January 23, 1998, when her vehicle was T‑boned by a hit and run driver. . . . Over that weekend the patient had increasing low back pain referred to both lower extremities, more to the right than the left, with paresthesia of the right leg.  She again went to the emergency room on January 26 because of severe back pain and received an intramuscular pain injection which caused nausea and vomiting but did not resolve her pain.  She was placed on oxycodone by the emergency room doctor.

Employee reported low back pain referred to both lower extremities, primarily in the anterior thigh, but Dr James noted "no change in bladder or bowel function.  She has been able to sustain a voiding pattern, although she continues to use Valium."  Dr. James reported his examination demonstrated "a relatively splinted lumbar spine with about 30% of normal range of motion in all planes."  Dr. James diagnosed,


(1) Acute low back pain, probably a lumbar strain with mild root irritation I find no evidence of frank radiculopathy today.


(2) Preexisting lumbar strain, which at this point is gradually abating.


(3) History of lumbar radiculopathy and lumbar laminectomy three years ago.    

Dr. James noted in his report that Employee still had an issue of her industrial injury.


In his second report of January 29, 1998, which he copied to the workers' compensation insurance adjuster, Dr. James stated Employee has two specific problems:


One is the lumbar strain superimposed upon her previous lumbar laminectomy.  I believe this still represents "new injury distinct and separate from her earlier laminectomy and discectomy (asymptomatic for over three years).  I believe the pelvic floor spasm which exists and which has been treated successfully with low dose Valium is a relationship to her industrial injury this fall.  Now that she has had an auto accident, this further complicates the issue and will probably delay the return‑to‑work schedule.


Dr. James also prepared two reports on February 12, 1998.  In his report to Employer he stated, "I believe she could have gradually expanded her work capacities by an hour each week, so that over a one‑month period of time she would be back to 8 hours a day.  . . .  I also believe she would have required continued medication for pelvic floor spasms, as well as for her pain.  I believe the patient's present problem is the issue from her previous lumbar radiculopathy and laminectomy."  He released her to work five hours per day.  In his report to the auto insurer he  stated, the auto accident caused a lumbar sprain superimposed on her industrial injury and represented an aggravation of that preexisting problem.


On March 26, 1998, Employee presented to Scott M. Dull, M.D., at the Providence Hospital Emergency Room, complaining she had been unable to urinate for the last six months.  She stated she has been catheterizing herself to urinate, which she is not going to do anymore.  She was fitted with a Foley (balloon tipped catheter) which would remain in place.  Dr. James' March 27, 1998 chart note stated, "I believe her problem represents an obstructive uropathy at the pelvic floor as a consequence of her back pain."


On April 1, 1998 Employee was examined by Michael W. Singsaas, M.D., a urologist, on referral from Dr. Dull.  Dr. Singsaas noted Employee had a catheter in place and, she was advised to "stay away from Valium as much as possible."  In a follow‑up visit on April 15, 1998, Dr. Singsaas noted Employee still had difficulty voiding and he recommended frequent bathroom trips to empty her bladder.  He prescribed Flomax to aid her voiding.  Dr Singsaas offered no opinion concerning the cause of Employee's voiding difficulty.


Dr. James' April 21, 1998 chart note stated Employee was taking Flomax and is now able to empty her bladder in twenty minutes, instead of up to two hours.  He also began reducing her narcotic medication, Lorcet, to one tablet daily.  Dr. James restricted Employee from working from April 20 to October 20, 1998 to "rehabilitate self".  


On May 5, 1998,  Dr. James reported Employee still had back pain and a voiding pattern that is limited by her pain.  On June 10, and again on June 19, 1998 Dr. James noted she had been using an excessive amount of Lorcet.


On May 6, 1998, Employee had a Second Independent Medical Examination (SIME) by Douglas G. Smith, M.D., an orthopedic consultant.  Employee told Dr. Smith the 1994 back surgery relieved her leg pain, but not her back pain.  She returned to work in January 1995, and  did fine, without the care of any doctors.  In September 1997, following the lifting incident,  she had shooting pains in her back.  At the time of the SIME examination, Employee related three complaints, back pain, leg pain, and bladder problems. 


Dr. Smith's diagnosed,


1.  Lumbar sprain/strain (09/25/97 and 01/23/98).


2.  Status post lumbar laminectomy and disc excision (10/28/94).


3.  Probable chronic pain syndrome (03/22/95; 05/06/98 Patient Pain Drawing).


4.  History of bladder problems, exact etiology uncertain in my opinion.

Dr. Smith summarized his opinion concerning the cause of these problems as follows:


[F]rom a musculoskeletal point of view, she has some degenerative changes and scarring subsequent to the surgery.  Her symptomology and findings seem to  significantly subjectively outweigh any objective situation, thus being in the realm of chronic pain or symptom magnification.


In Dr. Smith's opinion, the September 1997 injury probably caused a temporary change in Employee's preexisting low back condition.


[T]he physical effects of the September 1997, injury should have resolved by this point in light of no evidence of disc or neurologic damage on either MRI or electrodiagnostic studies.  The persistence of her problems are probably related to the chronic pain syndrome and also may have some relationship to a re‑injury which apparently occurred in January, 1998.


In Dr. Smith's view, the majority of Employee's complaints on May 5, 1998 were related to a recurrence of chronic pain syndrome, which he identified as having being present in 1995.  Dr. Smith believed Employee's September 1997 aggravation was medically stable following the negative MRI in October 1997, the normal EMG, and the failed epidural steroid injection in November 1997.  He selected December 1997 as the date of medical stability.  Dr. Smith believed Employee could return to work with a twenty pound lifting restriction.  


Dr. Smith's did not provide an opinion regarding Employee's bladder problem. He stated only that "the cause of her bladder problems are not clear to me and I will not comment further on that."


Dr. James' continued treating Employee, and copying his chart notes to the automobile insurer.  In his August 10, 1998 chart note, he stated Employee's back pain had been reduced fifty to sixty percent.  He reported Employee is catheterizing herself about twice a month, her voiding volume is increasing and the frequency decreasing.  In an August 25, 1998 chart note, Dr. James released Employee to light duty work with a twenty-pound lifting restriction.


At hearing, Dr. James testified, to his knowledge, Employee did not have a history of bladder retention until October 1997.  He testified that, but for the September 1997 work injury, she would not have had a urological problem.  


Dr. James asserted his earlier diagnoses of a work‑related lumbar strain were accurate, and he did not find objective evidence of new radiculopathy; nonetheless, he testified Employee's work injury had stretched or inflamed the scar tissue from her 1995 back surgery, causing a "nerve root flare up."  He testified he reached this conclusion because, "there was no way to explain her pelvic floor spasms on any other basis."  He testified he did not believe urinary problems were caused by medication, but did not elaborate. Dr. James testified that even if Employee's urinary problems had resolved by January 13, 1998, as indicated in his chart note of that date, the problem reoccurred, and Employer "owed part of it  . . . because of the time line."


Dr. James stated that eight or nine months after Employee's industrial injury, she had a precipitous improvement in her back and leg complaints and, in his opinion, this was consistent with a inflammation of the nerve root.  He testified she did not become medically stable from the work injury until July 1998.  He testified that, if Employee had not been economically limited from seeking additional treatment by Employer's January 22, 1998 controversion, Employee would have recovered more quickly.  Because of the length of time Employee experienced pain and bladder symptoms after September 25, 1997, Dr. James' believed her work injury had caused a "modest increase" in permanent impairment.


Dr. Silver testified Employee's urinary problems were not caused by her work injury, but were a long‑standing problem.  He referenced the physical therapists note on December 2, 1994, that noted she had positive difficulty initiating urination, and Dr. Bryant's note that she reported urine leaking related to bronchitis episode prior to her work injury.  Further, he noted Dr. Singsaas reported satisfactory uroflow testing, and did not find an organic cause for her bladder problem.  Dr. Silver believed Employee's urinary retention was related to her use of the drugs, Zoloft, Paxil, and Anexsia, Lorcet, and other opiate based pain relievers, all of which, he testified, can cause urinary retention.  Dr. Silver also noted that Employee's urinary problems increased after the January 1998 motor vehicle accident, when she reported a significant increase in back pain and her pain medication dosages were increased.  

Argument of the Parties

Employee argued the lifting incident in September 1997 caused a new back injury and her urinary problems.  In support of this contention she asserted her back had been stable, "pain free," and had not required medical treatment or medication for 28 months after her back surgery.  She stated her previous urinary difficulties were isolated, temporary events, and are unrelated to her bladder retention problem following her work injury.  She argued we should give Dr. James' opinions greater weight, because he was her treating physician and therefore, better understood her symptoms, and their relationship with her work injury.  In addition, she urges us to rely on the opinions of Drs. Bryant and Vasileff.
 


Employee asserted we should not rely on Dr. Smith, because his opinions were vague, or Dr. Silver's opinion, because he only examined her briefly.  She argues Dr. Silver'ss opinion that her back strain would be expected to resolve by December 1998, failed to take into account that all person's bodies are different.  Employee also asserted Dr. Silver's attribution of her urinary problems to the side effects of medication is fallacious, because her urinary problem resolved in the summer of 1998 although she has continued to take medications.


Employer asserted there is no objective medical evidence of a new back injury, disc herniation, or radiculopathy.  It argued all the objective medical evidence is consistent with Employee having suffered a back strain in September 1997, which temporarily aggravated her pre‑existing back condition.  Employer argued we should rely on the opinions of Drs. Silver and Smith that the effects of the September 1997 back strain/sprain had resolved by December 22, 1998.  It asserted it paid Employee all benefits claimed through December 22, 1997; therefore no additional benefits are due.


Employer argued Employee had a pre‑existing chronic pain syndrome that was documented by Dr. Bryant and Dr. Davy.  It asserted we should accept Dr. Silver and Smith's opinions that Employee's continued back, leg and bladder complaints, and any need for continued medical treatment after December 22, 1997 was attributable her preexisting back condition, chronic pain syndrome, and after January 23, 1998, to the effects of Employee's motor vehicle accident injuries, and not her work injury. 


Employer argued we should not rely on Dr. James' explanation that surgical scar stretching caused nerve root inflammation caused Employee's bladder dysfunction, because his opinion is not supported by objective evidence or the historical medical records.  Employer emphasized that Dr. James reported Employee's bladder problems had resolved by January 13, 1998.  It argued her bladder problems reoccurred after Employee's January 23, 1998 motor vehicle accident, when she suffered increased pain, her pain medications were increased, and she had a corresponding increase in bladder retention.  Employer argued we should rely on Dr. Silver's opinion that Employee's bladder problem was related to the pain medications she was taking, at least four of which he testified can cause urinary retention.  Finally, even if Dr. James' theory was correct (that back pain caused "pelvic floor spasms" which in turn, caused bladder outlet flow dysfunction), the cause of Employee's pain after December 22, 1997 was not her work- related back strain, but her preexisting back condition and chronic pain syndrome.  

FINDINGS OF FACTS AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW


To be compensable, an "injury" must arise out of and in the course of employment.
  A work-related injury that aggravates or accelerates a pre‑existing disease or condition is compensable, if it is a substantial causal factor in bringing about the harm or disability at issue.
  A work-related injury is a substantial factor in the disability if it is shown that (1) "but for" the employment the disability would not have occurred, and (2) reasonable persons would regard the employment as a cause and attach responsibility to it.
   Under the "but for" test,


. . . the claimant need only prove that "but for" the subsequent trauma the claimant would not have suffered disability at this time, or in this way, or to this degree.  In other words to satisfy the 'but for' test, the claimant need only prove that the aggravation, acceleration or combination was a substantial factor in the resulting disability.
 

A disability arising after a non-work-related injury is still compensable if an earlier work-related injury substantially contributed to the disability. 


To decide a claim for compensation we apply the presumption of compensability in AS 23.30.120(a).
  Applying the presumption of compensability is a three step process.
 


In the first step, we must decide whether Employee produced sufficient evidence to raise the presumption that she is entitled to benefits.  To raise the presumption, Employee need only adduce "some" "minimal" relevant evidence
 establishing a "preliminary link" between the injury and employment,
 between a work-related injury and the existence of disability,
 or the continuing entitlement to a benefit.
  To determine whether Employee established the preliminary link, we only consider evidence tending to establish the link.  We do not assess the credibility of Employee's evidence,
 and disregard competing evidence.
  If Employee's evidence established the preliminary link, we presume her injury is compensable, and the burden of producing contrary evidence shifts to Employer.


In the second step, we must determine whether Employer met its burden of producing contrary evidence.
  To rebut the presumption, Employer must produce "substantial evidence" that "either 1) provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or 2) directly eliminates any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability."
  Employer evidence that simply points to other possible causes of Employee's injury or disability, without ruling out work-related causes, cannot overcome the presumption of compensability.
  "Substantial evidence" is such relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
 


Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to Employer, and not the burden of proof, we examine Employer's evidence in isolation.
  We defer questions of credibility and the weight to give Employer's evidence until after we have decided whether  Employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption.
  Employer can rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting a qualified expert who testifies that in his or her opinion, the claimant's work was probably not a substantial cause of the disability.
  If Employer produces substantial evidence rebutting the presumption of compensability, the presumption drops out, and we move to the third step.
  


 
In the third step, Employee bears the burden of proving all elements of her claims by a preponderance of the evidence.
  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence must "induce a belief" in the mind of the triers of fact that the asserted facts are probably true.


In claims based on technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary.
  "Two factors determine whether expert medical evidence is necessary in a given case: the probative value of the available lay evidence and the complexity of medical facts involved."

1.
Is Employee Entitled to Additional Medical Benefits?

Under AS 23.30.095(a), Employer had a duty to furnish medical treatment for the period that the nature of the injury or the process of recovery required. The presumption of compensability applies to claims for additional medical treatment.


Applying the first step of the presumption analysis to Employee's evidence, we find from Employee's testimony she had a work‑related back injury on September 25, 1997.  We find from the reports of Drs. Bryant, James, Silver, and Smith that Employee's the lifting incident caused a back strain/sprain that was substantial factor in aggravating her pre‑existing back condition and caused increased back pain, leg pain and numbness.  


It is undisputed Employee's injury required medical treatment until December 22, 1997.  We find the question of whether the nature of Employee's work injury or the process of her recovery reasonably required additional medical treatment after that date, is a technical medical question.  Therefore, we find expert medical evidence is necessary to establish a link between Employee's work‑related injury and the necessity of additional medical treatment after December 22, 1997.   


We find Dr. James' chart notes, reports and testimony are sufficient evidence to raise the presumption that Employee's work injury was a substantial factor in her need for treatment of continuing back and leg pain after December 22, 1997, to at least August 25, 1998.  We further find Dr. James' evidence was sufficient to raise the presumption that the work injury was a substantial factor in causing Employee's urinary dysfunction.  We therefore also presume Employee was entitled to medical treatment for urinary retention until that problem resolved.


In the second step of the analysis, we view Employer's evidence in isolation to determine if it produced sufficient substantial evidence to rebut the presumption of compensability.  We find Ms. Ferrel's testimony that Employee told her she fallen on her back at home, prior to September 25 1997, if true, only points to another possible cause of Employee's back injury and does not exclude Employee's work injury as a substantial factor in her need for continued medical treatment.  Therefore, we find Ms. Ferrel's testimony does not constitute substantial evidence excluding work‑related factors in her need for continuing medical treatment.




We find the medical opinions of Dr. Silver and Dr. Smith are substantial evidence that Employee's work-related lumbosacral strain only temporarily aggravated her pre‑existing back condition, and that the effects of work-related aggravation resolved by the time of Dr. Silver's examination on December 22, 1997.  We further find the opinions of Drs. Silver and Smith are substantial evidence that the work injury was not a substantial factor in any need Employee had for additional medical treatment of back pain or leg pain and numbness after December 22, 1997.  
Dr. Silver testified Employee's bladder retention was not caused by back pain or a structural or neurological defect in Employee's back, but rather was probably caused by the side effects of the narcotic medications prescribed for her back pain.  We find the prescribing of medication for the alleviation of pain is medical treatment.  Since Employer produced substantial evidence that Employee's work injury was not a substantial factor in her need for medical treatment after December 22, 1997, any need Employee had for pain medication after that date was attributable to her preexisting back condition and chronic pain syndrome, and not her work injury.  We therefore find that Dr. Silver's opinion is substantial evidence that Employee's work injury was not a substantial factor in Employee's need for urinary or bladder retention treatment after December 22, 1997.  Because Employer produced sufficient substantial evidence to rebut the presumption Employee was entitled to additional medical benefits for her work injury after December 22, 1997, Employee had the burden of proving all elements of her entitlement to additional medical benefits by a preponderance of the evidence.


We find by a preponderance of the evidence Employee injured her back consolidating freight on September 25, 1997.  Employer produced Ms. Ferrel's testimony to prove Employee's back injury was not work‑related, however it offered no argument to that effect.  Even if we were to accept Ms. Ferrel's testimony as accurate, we find her evidence would only support an inference that Employee experienced a non‑work‑related back injury prior to September 25, 1997 and she did not contemporaneously state that she injured her back while they were consolidating freight.  We find neither of these inferences negates the fact of a work‑injury.  On the contrary, Employer's medical expert, Dr. Silver, testified that in his opinion Employee sustained an industrial orthopedic lumbosacral spine injury on September 25, 1998.  We find, based on the entire record, Employee incurred a lumbosacral spine injury that arose out of and in the course of her employment on September 25, 1997.


We find from the reports of Drs. Bryant, Silver, and Smith, and the reports of Ms. Moeler and Ms. Hill‑Bryant, that Employee' work injury caused a lumbosacral strain/sprain.  We find, from the same evidence, Employee's work‑related back strain aggravated her preexisting back condition and was a substantial factor in her need for medical treatment to December 22, 1997.


We find there is no evidence Employee's work injury caused an objectively verifiable structural or neurological injury.  We further find from the reports of Drs. Toeller, Bryant, Silver, and Smith there was a chronic pain syndrome or symptom magnification component to Employee's back pain complaints before and after September 25, 1997.  Accordingly, we find a thorough knowledge of Employee's documented prior back, leg and urinary complaints and treatment, is important factor in evaluating whether Employee's work injury was a substantial factor in her ongoing back, leg, and bladder complaints, and whether her work injury was a substantial factor in her need for medical treatment for those complaints after December 22, 1997.


We find Dr. Smith's report and Dr. Silver's report and testimony evinced a knowledge of Employee's documented medical history prior to September 25, 1997.  Further, we give additional weight to the opinions of Dr. Smith, the Board's SIME, because we find his opinions are free of any bias that may color the opinions of  Employer's and Employee's physicians.

 
We find Employee was not a reliable historian of her symptoms, complaints and past medical treatment.  She reported to Dr. Bryant she developed a urine leakage problem after the September 25, 1997 work injury.  We find Dr. Bryant and Ms. Hill-Bryant's chart notes demonstrate she complained of urine leaking before her work injury.  Employee testified her difficulty initiating urination in 1994 was an isolated, temporary episode, confined to the week following her October 1994 back surgery.  We find, based on December 1994 physical therapists note, she had difficulty initiating urination for at least five weeks after her back surgery.  


Similarly, Employee testified she was not injured in January 1998 motor vehicle accident, and she only went the emergency room on January 23, 1998, because she was directed to do so by her automobile insurer.  We find Employee also sought emergency room treatment for back pain she related to the motor vehicle accident on January 26, 1998.  We further find seven days after the auto accident, on January 29, 1998, Dr. James' stated she demonstrated "a splinted lumbar spine with about 30% of normal range of motion in all planes," whereas his chart note of December 31, 1997 stated she had a sixty percent of a normal range of motion, on January 

13 he noted she was doing better, and he released her to return to part-time sedentary work on January 18, 1998.  We find Employee did have an increase in her back and leg pain following the January 1998 motor vehicle accident.  We find from the foregoing evidence that Employee re-injured her low back in the  January 23, 1998 motor vehicle.  We find Employee's inconsistent reporting of symptoms and complaints and, particularly her hearing testimony that she was not injured in the January 1998 motor vehicle accident, seriously impaired her overall credibility.


We find we must give less weight to Dr. James' opinions, because neither his reports, nor his testimony demonstrate knowledge of Employee's documented medical history prior to the date of his initial treatment on November 4, 1997.  We also give Dr. James's opinions less weight because, we find he relied on Employee's reports to him of her past condition, complaints, and treatments, in forming his medical opinions.  For instance, on November 4, 1997, Employee reported to Dr. James her back pain and right leg paresthesia had been stable, and she was "well" prior to September 25, 1997.  Similarly, in reports of January 29, 1998, Dr. James described Employee's pre-existing back condition as having been "asymptomatic for over three years."  We find from Employee's testimony and the reports of Dr. Davy and Dr. Bryant, she experienced significantly increased back pain in the spring and summer of 1997, which was sufficiently severe for Employee to solicit a referral to a back surgeon and to warrant Dr. Bryant's reluctantly prescribing narcotic pain medication.  


We further find we must give less weight to Dr. James' opinions because there is no evidence he was aware of, considered, factored into his opinions, or discounted (except impliedly by silence) a chronic pain syndrome or symptom magnification component to Employee's back pain, which was identified by her treating physician, Dr Bryant, as well as Drs. Toulle, Silver, and  Smith.  We find from the opinions of Drs. Silver and Smith that there was a chronic pain syndrome and symptom magnification component to Employee's back and leg complaints following her September 1997 work injury.


We find a significant factor in Dr. James' opinion that Employee required continued medical treatment for her work injury after December 22, 1997 was the continuance of Employee's urine retention problems.  We find we must give less weight to Dr. James' opinion that "but for her work injury, Employee would not have had trouble peeing," because he testified he based his opinion in part on the assumption Employee did not have urinary problems prior to September 1997.  We find there is no evidence Dr. James was aware of, considered, or factored into his opinion Employee's history of urine leakage prior to her work injury, or her history of difficulty initiating urination for several weeks following her back surgery in 1994.   
We also find we must give less weight to Dr. James' opinion that Employee's work injury was a substantial factor in urine retention problem because he offered differing opinions as to its etiology.  On November 4, 1997, he reported Employee's EMG tests were normal and diagnosed a "lumbar strain without evidence of recurrent radiculopathy" and stated "I believe the patient's difficulty with micturition represents pelvic floor spasm as a consequence of her pain and secondary obstructive uropathy (functional obstruction)."  Dr. James never explained the mechanism by which back pain can cause "pelvic floor spasms" or the mechanism by which pelvic floor spasms can cause "obstructive uropathy."  Even we were to accept Dr. James' theory that Employee's urinary retention problems were caused by back pain, there is no evidence, apart from Dr. James' opinion, that her work injury, rather than chronic pain syndrome, was a substantial factor in her complaints 


At hearing Dr. James testified Employee's work injury caused a stretching of the scar tissue of from her prior back surgery that caused a "nerve root flare-up, because there was no way to explain her pelvic floor spasms on any other basis."  We find the first mention in Dr. James' records of nerve root involvement is contained in his January 29, 1998 report to the automobile insurer wherein he diagnosed Employee's motor vehicle accident injury as "a lumbar strain with a mild root irritation."  We find Dr. James' failure to mention nerve root involvement or its relationship to Employee's bladder problems in the six reports he issued prior to the automobile accident, impairs our ability to rely upon his nerve root theory as the cause of her allegedly work-related injury bladder retention problem.


When questioned about the statement in his last report before Employee's motor vehicle accident, on January 13, 1998, that Employee's urinary problems had "resolved" with low doses of diazapam, Dr. James testified the urinary problem reoccurred, and Employer "owned part of it because of the time line."  We find we must give Dr. James' opinion that Employee's work injury was a substantial factor in bladder problems after her motor vehicle accident based on the temporal proximity of the two events less weight, because of Employee's history of recurrent bladder problems and because we have found that Employee did suffer a new back injury in the motor vehicle accident.


We find based on all the credible evidence, and particularly Dr. Bryant's October 28 report and Dr. Silver's testimony, that Employee's urinary retention was probably caused by the narcotic pain medications she was taking for back pain. We further find there is a correlation between Employee's treatment with narcotic pain relievers, including Anexsia, hyrdocodone, Lorcet, Demerol, and oxycodone and urinary retention.
  For instance, on October 17, 1997 Dr. Bryant gave Employee a ten day "pain holiday" by increasing her narcotic dosage and she returned on October 22 with complaints of an inability to urinate, and was instructed on self-catheterization.  We further find that when her dosages of narcotic pain medication was reduced in the summer of 1998, her urinary retention difficulties began to abate. 


We further find that the preponderance of the credible evidence, and particularly the opinions of Drs Silver and Smith, that Employee's work-related lumbar strain and the temporary aggravation of her underlying back condition it caused, resolved on or before December 22, 1997, and the process of her recover from that temporary aggravation was complete and did not reasonably require additional medical treatment, including medication for chronic back pain after that date.  We further find Employee's need for continued back treatment after December 22, 1998 resulted from a combination of her preexisting back condition, chronic pain syndrome and symptom magnification.  We therefore find Employee failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Employee's September 25, 1997 injury reasonably required additional medical treatment after December 22, 1997.

2.
Is Employee Entitled to TTD from December 23, 1997 through January 17, 1998?
AS 23.30.185 provides as follows: 


In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality 80 percent of the injured employee's weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability 

As used in the Alaska Worker's Compensation Act "disability" means an "incapacity because of an injury to earn wages which the employee was receiving at the time of the injury or any other employment."  AS 23.30.395(10).

Under AS 23.30.395(21), "medical stablity" means


[T]he date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence. 


The Alaska Supreme court had determined that the definition of "medical stability restricts the application of the presumption of compensability in AS 23.30.120.
  We have consistently determined the presumption still applies to some extent, when an employee seeks continuing temporary disability benefits based on the assertion his condition is not medically stable.
  However the Employee must adduce some evidence she is not medically stable to raise the presumption.


We find Dr. James' testimony that Employee was not medically stable from her work injury until her severe back pain and urinary retention abated in the summer of 1998, specifically August 25, 1998 when he released Employee to full time work within the 20 pound lifting restriction in place prior to September 1997, is sufficient evidence to raise the presumption that Employee is entitled to disability compensation until August 1998.  Because Employee has attached the presumption of continuing disability, Employer must produce substantial evidence to show Employee was either medically stable or had the capacity to earn the same wages at the same or other employment.


We find Dr Smith's opinion that Employee probably became medically stable from her 1997 work injury in December 1997, and Dr. Silver's opinion that Employee was medically stable on December 23, 1997 and able to return to full time work within her pre-injury 20 pound lifting restriction, are substantial contrary evidence, sufficient to rebut the presumption Employee was entitled to disability compensation after  December 23, 1997.  Because Employer has rebutted the presumption with substantial evidence, Employee must prove her claim of continuing disability by a preponderance of the evidence.  


Reviewing the record as a whole, we find Employee has not proven her claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  We find, no physician identified an objective medical standard by which to measure Employee's injury or her relative improvement or deterioration from the effects of her work injury.  Employee's MRI scan showed no structural change from her pre‑injury scans and her EMG study were normal.  From time to time, Dr. James reported his subjective estimate of the percentage of normal range of motion Employee was able to achieve, but we find no evidence his estimates were the result measurement, or a directed examination. We find Dr. James based his opinions regarding the medically stable of Employee's work injury on reports of her subjective back pain, and her urinary difficulty.


For the reasons discussed above with regard to Employee's claim for continuing medical benefits, we find we must give Dr. James' opinion's concerning the relationship between back pain and Employee's objective injury less weight, particularly because he failed to consider or factor into his opinions her history of chronic pain syndrome and symptom magnification.  Further, we earlier found Employee's bladder retention problems were probably related to the adverse effects of  medication she was being prescribed, by several different physicians, for her subjective pain complaints.  Therefore, we find cannot rely on reports of a lessening or increase of Employee's voiding difficulty as an objective measure of improvement from her work injury.


For the reasons delineated in the foregoing section, we find we must also give greater weight to the opinions of Drs. Silver and Smith regard the date of medical stability for Employee's work injury.  Accordingly, we find Employee both, medically stable, and no longer incapacitated from earning wages by her work-related back strain after December 23, 1997.  We find, therefore, Employee is not entitled to TTD from December 23, 1997 to January 17, 1998.

3
Is Employee Entitled to TPD from January 18, 1998 through August 29, 1998?

Like AS 23.30.185, under AS 23.30.200(a) TPD "may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability."  Since we have found Employee was both medically stable, and no longer incapacitated by her work injury from earning the same wages, at the same job she held prior to September 1997, after on December 23, 1997, we find she is  not entitled to TPD compensation from January 18, 1998 through August 29, 1998.

4.
Is Employee Entitled PPI Benefits Compensation? 


Under AS 23.30.190(a), if Employee suffered impairment partial in character and permanent in quality from a work related injury, she is entitled to PPI benefits.  Under subsection .190(b) determinations of the existence and degree of PPI shall be made strictly and solely under the whole person determination as set out in the American Medical Association Guides to Evaluation of Permanent Impairment.  


In deciding whether Employee is entitled to PPI we are again required to apply the presumption of compensability.  We find the only evidence that Employee suffered any additional
 permanent impairment as a result of her September 1997 work injury was Dr. James' testimony that because of the length of time Employee experienced pain and bladder symptoms, he believed her work injury had caused a "modest increase" in permanent impairment.  Because neither Dr. James, nor any other physician, rated Employee under the American Medical Association Guides to Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, we find Employee failed to produce any competent evidence of additional PPI under AS 23.30.190(a), and therefore Employee failed to raise the presumption that she is entitled to additional PPI as a result of September 25, 1997 injury.


Even if Dr. James' testimony were sufficient minimal evidence to raise the presumption that Employee was entitled to additional PPI, as discussed above, we find Employee suffered only a temporary aggravation of her pre-existing back injury, and that temporary aggravation resolved by December 23, 1997.  Accordingly, we find Employee did not suffer any PPI as a result of her work injury.

5.
Is Employee Entitled to a Penalty on Benefits Due and Not Timely Paid.

AS 23.30.155(e) provides "[i]f any installment of compensation payable without an award is  not paid within seven days after it became due . . . there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it."  AS 23.30.155(b) provides in pertinent part, "[t]he first installment of compensation becomes due on the 14th day after the employer has knowledge of the injury."


We find from Employee's notice of injury that Employer had knowledge of her injury on September 25, 1997.  Employee was seen at First Care and restricted from work by Ms. Moeler on the same date.  We find from Employer's compensation report, Employer did not begin paying Employee TTD until November 11, 1997.


We find under subsection .155(b), Employer's first payment of TTD became due to Employee on October 9, 1997.  When that initial payment was not made within seven days thereafter, on or before October 16, we find a penalty became due on the Employee's first installment of TTD.  The second installment of TTD became due fourteen days after October 9, on October 23. When second installment of TTD was not paid within seven days thereafter, on or before October 30, we find a penalty became due on the second installment of TTD.  The third installment of TTD became due fourteen days after October 23, on November 6.  Since the third installment of TTD was paid on or before seven days after it was due, on November 11, we find no penalty was due on the third installment of TTD.


Employee's weekly TTD rate was $293.74.  Since we have found Employer owes a twenty-five percent penalty on two bi-weekly installments of TTD, we find Employer must pay Employee a penalty of $293.74 on late paid TTD.  Since we have found Employee is not entitled to any additional benefits and there is no evidence that any other compensation payments due to Employee, we find Employer's total penalty obligation is $293.74.

6.
Is Employee Entitled to Interest on Benefits Due and Not Timely Paid.

Under 8 AAC 45.142 if compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate of 10.5 percent per annum from the date each installment of compensation was due until paid.  Since we have found above that three installments of TTD were not timely paid, we find Employer must pay interest to Employee from the dates on which those payments were due until they were paid.  Since we have found Employee is not entitled to any additional benefits and there is no evidence that any other payments that were due to Employee before December 22, 1997 were not timely paid, we find Employee is not entitled to collect any additional interest.

7.
Whether Employer Frivolously or Unfairly Controverted Compensation Due to Employee?

 We find Employer first controverted benefits for marital counselling, psychological counselling and depression prescribed by Dr. Bryant.  We find there is no evidence that Employee's work related back injury was a substantial factor in any need Employee had for these medical services.  Accordingly, we find Employer's controversion of these benefits was neither frivolous or unfair. 


We find Employer controverted all additional benefits based on the Dr. Silver's January 15, 1998 report of his examination.  Since we have found Dr. Silver's report constituted substantial evidence that no additional benefits were due to Employee after December 22, 1997, we find Employer's controversion of all benefits based on Dr. Silver's report was neither frivolous nor unfair.  


ORDER

1.
Employee's claim for additional medical benefits is denied and dismissed

2.
Employee's claim for additional TTD compensation from December 23, 1997 through January 18, 1998, is denied and dismissed.

3.
Employee's claim for TPD compensation from January 18, 1998 through August 29, 1998, is denied and dismissed.

4.
Employee's claim for PPI compensation is denied and dismissed.

5.
Employer shall pay Employee a penalty in the amount of $293.74.

6.
Employer shall pay Employee interest on at the rate of 10.5 percent per annum on TTD benefits due and not timely paid in accordance with this decision.

7.
Employee's claim that Employer frivolously or unfairly controverted compensation due to Employee is denied and dismissed. 


Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this _________________ day of _________________, 1999.



ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD



___________________________________



S. Constantino, Designated Chairman



___________________________________



John A. Abshire, Member



___________________________________



Florence S. Rooney, Member


If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue and penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.


APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.


Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.


RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.


MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.  


CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of TAMMY M. COSTA, employee / applicant; v. WAL-MART, employer; and  , insurer / defendants; Case No.9725201; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this _____________ day of _________________, 1999.


 
       _________________________________

             

       BRADY D. JACKSON, III, Clerk
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     � Employer filed a timely request to cross�examine Dr. Vasileff concerning the basis and conclusions in his reports.   Under Commercial Union Insurance Companies v. Smallwood, 550 P.2d 1261 (1976), if a party objects to consideration of written medical reports, they may not be relied on by the Board, unless the party making the request is given an opportunity to cross examine the report's author.  Employer was not given an opportunity to cross�examine Dr. Vasileff.  Therefore, we may not consider his medical reports.


     �  Valium is the Roche Pharmaceutical Company trade name for the generic drug diazepam. Physicians' Desk Reference, (52 ed. 1998)("PDR") at 2527�28.


     � On April 9, 1998, Employee was evaluated by Ron Brockman, D.O., on behalf of the auto insurer.  Employer filed request to cross�examine Dr. Brockman regarding his written report, and was not given that opportunity.  We therefore we may not consider Dr. Brockman's report. See note 1, supra.





     �  We are prohibited from relying on Dr. Vasileff's written reports and opinions. See Note 1, supra.


     �  AS 23.30.395(a).


     �  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 317 (Alaska 1981), reh'g granted, 698 P.2d 1206 (Alaska 1985) (citation omitted).


     �  Fairbanks N. Star Borough v. Rogers and Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 532 (Alaska 1987).


     �  Williams v. State of Alaska, 938 P.2d 1065, 1072 (Alaska 1997) quoting Fairbanks N. Star Borough v. Rogers and Babler, 747 P.2d at 533.


     �  Osborne Construction Company v. Jordan, 904 P.2d 386, 390 (Alaska 1995).


     �  AS 23.30.120(a) provides in pertinent part:


	In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that


 		(1)  the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter;


		(2)  sufficient notice of the claim has been given; . . . 


     �  Gillespie v. B & B Foodland, 881 P.2d 1106, 1109 (Alaska 1994)


     �  Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkison, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987).


     �  Burgess Construction v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).


     �  Wien Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d 471,473-74 (Alaska 1991).


     �  Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 665 (Alaska 1991)(medical benefits). 


     �  Tolbert v. Alascom, Inc., ___ P.2d ___, Op. No. 5073  (Alaska January 29, 1999).


     �Gillespie, 881 P.2d at 1109.


     � Id.


     �  Big K Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941, 942 (Alaska 1992) (quoting  Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).


     �  Childs v. Copper Valley Electric Ass'n., 860 P.2d 1184,1189 (Alaska 1993).


     �  Safeway v. Mackey, 965 P.2d 22 27 (Alaska 1998)(citing, Gillispie, 881 P.2d at 1109).


     �  Veco Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 869 (Alaska 1985).


     �  Norcon Inc. v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 880 P.2d 1051, 1055 (Alaska 1994); Wolfer, 693 P.2d at 869.


     �  Mackey, 965 P.2d at 27 (quoting, Big K Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941, 942 (Alaska  1992).


     �  Wolfer, 693 P.2d at 870.


     �  Id.


     �  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).


     �  Smallwood, 623 P.2d at 316.


     �  Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).


     �  Carter, 818 P.2d at 663, n. 5.


     �  See Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991)


     �  The PDR, referred to by Dr. Silver in his testimony, lists urinary retention as an adverse reaction of these drugs. See PDR at 907, 914, 952 and 2570.


     �  Municipality of Anchorage v. Leigh, 823 P.2d 1241, 1246 (Alaska 1992)


     �  Platt v. Sunrise Bakery, AWCB Decision No.93-0208 at page 10 (August 25, 1993).


     �  In addition to the eleven percent whole person rating Employee received as a result of her 1993 work injury in Nevada.





